FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUN 26 1995

CLERK, SWERENE COURT By____

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 85,548

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

JOHN WILLIAM PARKER,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, THIRD DISTRICT

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

DOUGLAS J. GLAID Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar #249475 4000 Hollywood Blvd., Ste. 505 Hollywood, Florida 33021 Telephone: (305) 985-4482

Counsel for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Petitioner, the State of Florida, was the appellee in the Third District Court of Appeal and the prosecution in the trial court of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit, in and for Dade County. The Respondent was the appellant and the defendant, respectively in the lower courts. In this brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court.

The symbol "R" refers to the record transmitted to this Court by the Clerk of the Third District Court of Appeal on June 21, 1995.

Unless otherwise indicated, all emphasis has been supplied by Petitioner.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

After a jury trial, Respondent was convicted of fraudulent use of a credict card (count 1) and grand theft (count 2). Respondent was sentenced as a habitual felony offender to consecutive terms of 10 years incarceration. (R 54-56). Under the sentencing guidelines, Respondent's recommended guidelines sentence range was 17 to 22 years imprisonment with a permissive range of 12 to 27 years imprisonment. (R 57).

Respondent appealed to the Third District Court of Appeal, alleging, inter alia, that it was error for the trial court to sentence him to consecutive habitual offender sentences since his crimes arose from the same criminal incident. The District Court afffirmed Respondent's conviction but reversed and vacated Respondent's sentence, citing in its opinion this Court's decision in Hale v. State, 630 So. 2d 521 (Fla. 1993). (R 64-65). In its opinion, the Third District certified the same question it framed in Hill v. State, 645 So. 2d 90 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994), to this Court, to-wit:

Whether Hale v. State, 630 So. 2d 521 (Fla. 1993), cert. denied, U.S. , 115 S.Ct. 278, 130 L.Ed.2d 195 (1994), precludes under all circumstances the imposition of consecutive sentences for crimes arising from a single criminal episode for habitual felony or habitual violent felony offenders?

Respondent filed a motion for rehearing which was denied by the Third District on March 29, 1995. The Petitioner

thereafter timely filed its notice to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction to review this cause. On April 21, 1995, this Court entered an order postponing decision on jurisdiction and set a briefing schedule. This brief on the merits followed.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court's decision in <u>Hale v. State</u>, 630 So. 2d 521 (Fla. 1993), <u>cert. denied</u>, <u>U.S.</u>, 115 S.Ct. 278, 130 L.Ed.2d 195 (1994) should be interpreted to <u>only</u> prohibit the imposition of consecutive minimum mandatory sentences for each offense committed during the course of a single criminal episode under §775.084, Florida Statutes.

ARGUMENT

HALE v. STATE, 630 So. 2d 521 (Fla. 1993), cert. denied, U.S. 278, 130 L.Ed.2d 195 S.Ct. (1994)SHOULD BE INTERPRETED TO ONLY PROHIBIT THE IMPOSITION OF CONSECUTIVE MINIMUM MANDATORY SENTENCES FOR EACH OFFENSE COMMITTED DURING THE COURSE OF A SINGLE CRIMINAL EPISODE UNDER **6775.084**, FLORIDA STATUTES.

The issue involved here has previously been briefed in State v. Hill, Case No. 84,727. The Petitioner, the State of Florida, adopts and reiterates all of the arguments raised in its initial and reply briefs filed in that case as if they were fully set forth herein. The State asks this Court to take judicial notice of its file in that case and refer to the arguments contained in the briefs filed therein. The State reserves the right to respond to any argument raised by Respondent in his answer brief. 1

As argued in <u>Hill</u>, Petitioner requests this Court to limit the rule enunciated in <u>Hale</u> to minimum mandatory portions of habitual felony offender sentences, the particular facts of the case, or alternatively, to carve out an exception to the <u>Hale</u> rule which would require that habitual offender sentences be imposed consecutively where they would otherwise fall below the guidelines range applicable in the absence of a habitual offender sentence.

The State will furnish counsel for Respondent with copies of its briefs filed in <u>Hill</u>.

CONCLUSION

Wherefore, based upon the foregoing argument and authorities cited herein, Appellee respectfully requests that this Honorable Court ACCEPT discretionary jurisdiction in this cause, answer the certified question in the negative, and reinstate the trial court's sentence.