017
FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUL 12 1995

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 85,548

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

-vs-

JOHN WILLIAM PARKER,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW
FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL
FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

BENNETT H. BRUMMER
Public Defender
Eleventh Judicial Circuit
of Florida
1320 N.W. 14th Street
Miami, Florida 33125
(305) 545-1963

ROSA C. FIGAROLA
Assistant Public Defender
Florida Bar No. 358401

Counsel for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In *Hale v. State*, 630 So. 2d 521 (Fla. 1993), *cert. denied*, _ U.S. _, 115 S.Ct. 278, 130 L.Ed. 2d 195 (1994), this Court unequivocally held that the imposition of consecutive habitual offender sentences for crimes arising for a single criminal episode are prohibited. Therefore the district's court's certified question should be answered in the affirmative.

Moreover reversal of the respondent's convictions is warranted in the instant case. The prosecution failed to disclose the existence of a rebuttal witness until immediately before the witness was to testify. As the defense had specifically requested disclosure of the evidence before commencement of the trial, and as the prosecution was not surprised by the contents of the defendant's testimony, the non-disclosure was a clear discovery violation. Reversal of respondent's convictions is warranted since the non-disclosure prejudiced respondent's ability to prepare for trial and limited respondent's cross-examination of a critical prosecution witness.

Reversal of the respondent's sentence is also warranted as a result of the trial court's refusal to recuse herself from the sentencing proceedings after stating she was personally offended by the contents of a defense witness' testimony. The trial court's subsequent conduct and statements impinged the neutrality of the court thus supporting disqualification of the judge from further proceedings.

ARGUMENTS

I.

THE STATE'S POSITION THAT *HALE v. STATE*, 630 So. 2d 521 (Fla. 1993), *cert. denied*, U.S. ___, 115 S.Ct. 278, 130 L. Ed. 2d 195 (1994) "SHOULD BE INTERPRETED TO ONLY PROHIBIT THE IMPOSITION OF CONSECUTIVE MINIMUM MANDATORY SENTENCES FOR EACH OFFENSE COMMITTED DURING THE COURSE OF A SINGLE CRIMINAL EPISODE UNDER SECTION 775.084, FLORIDA STATUTES," IS CONTRARY TO THE VERY LANGUAGE OF *HALE*.

As this issue as already been briefed before this Court in State v. Hill, Case No. 84,727 and State v. Champagne, Case No. 85,479, respondent adopts the arguments presented by the respondents in their briefs on the merits. Respondent requests that this Court take judicial notice of its file in those cases and refer to the arguments contained in the briefs filed therein.

Briefly stated, respondent reiterates the fact that this Court's holding in *Hale v. State*, 630 So. 2d 521 (Fla. 1993), *cert. denied*, _ U.S. ___, 115 S.Ct. 278, 130 L. Ed. 2d 195 (1994), unequivocally holds that consecutive habitual offender sentences are prohibited for crimes arising from a single criminal episode. This Court's subsequent decisions in *Elder v. State*, 630 So. 2d 528, *Brooks v. State*, 630 So. 2d 527 (Fla. 1993), and *Penton v. State*, 630 So. 2d 526 (Fla. 1993), have reaffirmed the Court's holding in *Hale* by repeatedly rejecting consecutive habitual offender sentences for crimes arising from a single criminal episode. The district court's certified question should thus be answered in the affirmative.

II.

THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED IT'S DISCRETION BY DENYING THE RESPONDENT'S REQUEST FOR A CONTINUANCE AND ALLOWING AN UNLISTED REBUTTAL WITNESS TO TESTIFY WHERE THE STATE'S FAILURE TO DISCLOSE THE EXISTENCE OF THE WITNESS PREJUDICED THE RESPONDENT'S ABILITY TO PREPARE FOR TRIAL AND PRECLUDED A FULL AND FAIR CROSS-EXAMINATION OF THE STATE WITNESS.

Reversal of the respondent's convictions is warranted in the instant case. The trial court incorrectly determined that the state had not violated the rules of discovery by failing to disclose the name of a rebuttal witness until the conclusion of the defendant's testimony. Moreover the trial court's finding that the defense was not prejudiced by state's failure to list the witness was an abuse of discretion warranting the reversal of appellant's trial and remand to the lower court for a new trial.

Pursuant to defense counsel's objection to Dina Dainov's testimony, on the grounds that Ms. Dainov had not been listed as a witness, the trial court held a *Richardson* Hearing. At the conclusion of the *Richardson* Hearing, the trial court ruled that the state had not violated the rules of discovery because the state was under no obligation to disclose the existence of Ms. Dainov's until the state decided to call her as a rebuttal witness to impeach the respondent's testimony. (T. 325).

This Court has emphatically held that there is no impeachment or rebuttal exception to the rules of discovery. *Kilpatrick v. State*, 376 So. 2d 386 (Fla. 1979); *Smith v. State*, 500 So. 2d 125 (Fla. 1986); *Elledge v. State*, 613 So. 2d 434 (Fla. 1993); *Hicks v. State*, 400 So. 2d 955 (Fla. 1981). See also *Ratcliff v. State*, 561 So. 2d 1276 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990). Moreover an accused is entitled to the name of all witnesses who have information relevant to his case, not just the names of those the state intends to call. *Wortman v. State*, 472 So. 2d 762 (Fla. 5th DCA) *rev.*

denied 480 So. 2d 1296 (Fla. 1985); *Fla.R.Crim.P.* 3.220(b)(1)(A). Contrary to the trial court's reasoning, this is not the type of case in which the prosecution is surprised by a defendant's testimony and could not have anticipated calling the witness, thus excusing non-disclosure. *See Baker v. State*, 438 So. 2d 905 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983) *rev. denied* 447 So. 2d 885 (Fla. 1984) (no abuse of discretion to allow unlisted witness to testify that she had received calls from defendant urging her to tell husband to send him money to fix a ticket, thereby contradicting defendant's contention that husband was repaying loan, where state did not become aware of wife's potential as witness until defendant's cross-examination of husband); *Dupree v. State*, 436 So. 2d 317 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) (no error to allow unlisted rebuttal witness to testify concerning the nature of the relationship between a defense witness and the defendant where the defense witness had not been disclosed prior to trial and the state could not have anticipated the need to call a rebuttal witness).

The record in the present case indicates that the prosecutor had spoken to Ms. Dainov sometime earlier during the day and was aware that Ms. Dainov would testify that John Parker had been in the store previously to purchase merchandise with a credit card. (T. 344-345). Moreover defense counsel explained the defense to the jury and the prosecution during jury selection. (T. 143-151). Thus the nature of the defense, and the contents of Mr. Parker's testimony was a surprise to no one. The prosecution was under a continuing duty to disclose previously undisclosed evidence to the defense. *Brown v. State*, 515 So. 2d 211 (Fla. 1987); *Cumbie v. State*, 345 So. 2d 1061 (Fla. 1977). The state's failure to notify the defense, once the state was aware that there was evidence that the respondent had been in the store the day before the incident and indicated he would return the following day, was a clear violation of the rules of discovery. *Lee v. State*, 538 So. 2d 63 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989).

The state's violation is particularly egregious in the instant case. In spite of the fact that the defense specifically requested disclosure of this type of evidence immediately before commencement of the trial, the state deliberately withheld disclosure of the evidence until the defendant had testified. (T. 182-183). Confirmation of the prosecutor's plan to call Ms. Dainov as a rebuttal witness is evidenced by the fact that the prosecutor had the witness ready to testify and appear before the court within fifteen minutes. *Elledge v. State*, 613 So. 2d 434 (Fla. 1993) (noting that state anticipated testimony of officer since it had disciplinary reports refuting officer's testimony of corrections officer); *James v. State*, 639 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994) (although reversed due to trial court's failure to conduct inquiry into state's failure to disclose photograph, appellate court notes that evidence that the state had intended to use the photograph was demonstrated by fact that prosecutor had photograph in the courtroom).

A *Richardson* inquiry is designed to "ferret out procedural prejudice occasioned by a party's discovery violation." *Smith v. State*, 372 So. 2d 86, 88 (Fla. 1979). *Accord, Duarte v. State*, 598 So. 2d 270, 272 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992). Reversal of an appellant's conviction is required if the prosecution's non-compliance with the rules of discovery results in harm or prejudice to the defendant's ability to prepare for trial. *Richardson v. State*, 246 So. 2d 771, 774 (Fla. 1971); *State v. Schopp*, 653 So. 2d 1016 (Fla. 1995). It is clear that the state's failure to disclose the existence of Ms. Dainov in the instant case prejudiced appellant's ability to prepare for trial.

Dina Dainov's testimony was devastating to the defendant's case. The state began closing argument by focusing on the fact that Ms. Dainov had impeached the defendant's testimony (T. 369) and repeated references were made to the contents of Dainov's testimony throughout the state's closing argument. (T. 369-371, 377).

The jury requested a copy of her testimony (R. 41, T. 391) and the trial court relied on Dainov's testimony to conclude that Mr. Parker was a "liar". (T. 476-477).

The Rules of Criminal Procedure require that witnesses be disclosed and made available in sufficient time to permit reasonable investigation regarding the proposed testimony. *Hill v. State*, 535 So. 2d 354, 355 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988); *Del Gaudio v. State*, 445 So. 2d 605 (Fla. 3d DCA) *rev. denied*, 453 So. 2d 45 (Fla. 1984). By failing to disclose Ms. Dainov until immediately before she was about to testify, the defense was precluded from preparing a defense to her identification of Parker as the man she had waited on previously. The defense should also have been granted an opportunity to question the store managers previously unknown to the defense. *Anderson v. State*, 314 So. 2d 803 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975) *cert. denied* 330 So. 2d 21 (Fla. 1979). Both managers had information which may have been relevant to test the credibility of Ms. Dainov's identification. *Griffin v. State*, 598 So. 2d 254 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). Additionally, the defense should have been afforded an opportunity to consult a handwriting expert and view the photograph Dainov had been shown.

Ms. Dainov had expressed a hesitancy in her ability to identify the man she had waited on in court. (T. 336). A legitimate area of cross-examination should thus have been to test the credibility of Ms. Dainov's identification of Mr. Parker. *Salter v. State*, 382 So. 2d 892 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980) (error to unduly restrict appellant's cross-examination of state witness regarding prior identification); *Porter v. State*, 386 So. 2d 1209 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980) (error to limit defendant's cross-examination of identification witness which, if permitted, could have tested and perhaps undermined witness' identification). By denying the defense request for a continuance, the trial court limited the respondent's ability to cross-examine a critical prosecution witness. Accordingly the respondent's convictions should be reversed and remand to the circuit court for a new trial.

III.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DENYING THE MOTION FOR RECUSAL AFTER THE TRIAL COURT STATED SHE HAD BEEN OFFENDED BY THE CONTENTS OF A DEFENSE WITNESS' TESTIMONY.

"Litigants have a right to seek the disqualification of a presiding judge when they have objective grounds to believe they will not receive a fair consideration at a trial or other judicial proceeding." *Puckett v. State*, 591 So. 2d 326 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992); §38.10 Fla.Stat.(1993); *Fla.R.Jud.Admin.* 2.160. "[A] party seeking to disqualify a judge need only show a 'well grounded fear that he will not receive a fair trial at the hands of the judge. It is not a question of how the judge feels; it is a question of what feeling resides in the affiant's mind and the basis for such feeling.' The question of disqualification focuses on those matters from which a litigant may reasonably question a judge's impartiality rather than a judge's perception of his [or her] ability to act fairly and impartially." *Livingston v. State*, 441 So. 2d 1083, 1086 (Fla. 1983). In the present case the respondent filed a motion seeking the trial court to recuse herself from any further proceedings. (R. 48-51). The trial court held that the motion was legally insufficient. (T. 453-453). Examination of the motion and record establishes otherwise.

Rule 2.160 of the Rules of Judicial Administration provides in pertinent part that:

(c) Motion. A motion to disqualify shall be in writing and specifically allege the facts and reasons relied on to show the grounds for disqualification and shall be sworn to by the party by signing the motion under oath or by a separate affidavit. The attorney for the party shall also separately certify that the motion and the client's statements are made in good faith.

(d) Grounds. A motion to disqualify shall show:

(1) that the party fears that he or she will not receive a fair trial or hearing because of specifically described prejudice or bias of the judge; or

Respondent's motion in the instant case was properly sworn to and signed. (T. 453-454). The motion alleged with specificity the facts leading up to the trial court's exchange with Ms. Hubbard. (R. 48-49). The motion also alleged that the "court's reaction and open hostility to the testimony of Ms. Hubbard" lead the respondent to believe that the court could not be fair and impartial in imposing sentence. (R. 50). The facts of the instant case reasonably lead the respondent to question the trial court's fairness and impartiality.

It is clear that a trial court cannot enter the proceedings and become a participant. *Chastine v. Bromme*, 629 So. 2d 293 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993); *Wayland v. Wayland*, 595 So. 2d 234, 235 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992). "A judge should respect and comply with the law and should conduct himself at all times in a manner that promotes public confidence in the integrity and impartiality of the judiciary." *Fla. Code Jud. Conduct, Canon 2A*. The trial court's active participation in an attempt to discredit Ms. Hubbard's testimony and credibility in the instant case clearly transformed the trial court into an advocate, not a neutral magistrate.

Moreover the trial court's statement that she found the content of Ms. Hubbard's testimony "offensive" served to place the defendant on notice that any attempt to present mitigating factors on the respondent's behalf was futile. The entire essence of respondent's presentation during the sentencing hearing was to establish that Mr. Parker's addiction, coupled with his illness and failure to receive drug treatment were mitigating factors supporting a non-habitual sentence. The trial court's announcement, indicating not only a reluctance to listen, but establishing that the court was personally offended by the nature of the testimony, clearly supported the trial court's disqualification. *Gonzalez v. Goldstein*, 633 So. 2d 1183 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994); *Mitchell v. State*, 642 So. 2d 1108 (Fla. 4th DCA September 9, 1994). "No judge under any circumstances is warranted in sitting in the trial of

a cause whose neutrality is shadowed or even questioned." *Livingston v. State*, 441 So. 2d at 1085 quoting *Dickenson v. Parks*, 105 So. 459, 462 (Fla. 1932). The facts of the instant case clearly demonstrate that the trial court's conduct cast such a shadow on the proceedings and warranted disqualification of the court.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing facts, authorities and arguments, respondent requests that this Court decline to exercise its discretionary authority to review the certified question. Should this Court elect to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction, respondent urges the Court to answer the certified question in the affirmative and reverse the Third District decision affirming the respondents conviction.